No. 68679-8

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS
DECISION1
C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
1. Whether the "initial aggressor" instruction given
by the trial court deprived the defendant of his
right to adequately argue his theory of the case
thereby depriving him of a fair trial.
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1-8
E. ARGUMENT8-15
F. CONCLUSION15
G. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE17
H. APPENDIX18

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## **WASHINGTON CASES**

State v. Bennett, 161 Wash.2d 303, 317, 165 P.3d 1241,
1249 (2007)17
State v. Brower, 43 Wash. App. 893, 901, 721 P.2d 12 (1986)
10
State v. Clarke, 61 Wash.2d 138, 144, 377 P.2d 449, 453 (1962)
16
State v. Fields, 85 Wash.2d 126, 129, 530 P.2d 284 (1975)17
State v. Riley, 137 Wash.2d 904, 911, 976 P.2d 624, 28 (1999)
State v. Stark, 158 Wash. App. 952, 960, 244 P.3d 433, 437
(2010)9
State v. Stark, 158 Wash. App. 952, 244 P.3d 433 (2010)14
OTHER AUTHORITIES
RAP 13.4(b)(4)8
WPIC 16.04

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Robin Davis, defendant in the trial court, is the petitioner herein.

#### B. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On November 4, 2013, Division I of the Court of Appeals issued its decision vacating the convictions for Assault in the Second Degree, affirming the convictions for Kidnap in the Second Degree, and remanding the case for resentencing. A true and accurate copy of the Court of Appeal's decision will be found in the Appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the "initial aggressor" instruction given by the trial court deprived the defendant of his right to adequately argue his theory of the case thereby depriving him of a fair trial.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robin Davis and Jeffrey Saunders were partners in an automobile repossession business. On September 10, 2010 they

were in western Washington having just delivered some vehicles, which had been repossessed. RP 385. Leobardo Rios contacted Jeff Saunders and hired his company to repossess two vehicles purchased by Teresa Valdez and believed to be in her possession in Western Washington. RP 391 – 93. Jeff Saunders, Robin Davis, and Chet Davis, Robin Davis's adult son, drove from Auburn, Washington toward Mount Vernon where they hoped to locate one the vehicles. RP 394 – 95. Unbeknownst to Mrs. Valdez the seller installed GPS devices in both vehicles prior to delivering them to her. RP 377. Mr. Rios, located in Texas, was monitoring the GPS devices and giving directions to Jeff Saunders as to the current location of the vehicles. RP 377 -78.

Jeff Saunders directed Robin Davis, who was driving the three, to a Kentucky Fried Chicken (KFC) restaurant located in Mount Vernon, Washington, where Mr. Rios told him the Explorer currently was located. Robin Davis parked his vehicle, a gray Ford pickup, near the exit of the drive thru to the

Kentucky Fried Chicken. Jeff Saunders got out of the pickup and approached the Explorer, which was in the drive thru lane apparently waiting for the passengers to pick up an order. RP 397 - 98. Saunders knocked on the passenger side window of the Explorer and advised the occupants that the vehicle was wanted in Texas. He told the driver of the vehicle, later identified as Salvador Valdez, to pull over. Instead of pulling over Salvador Valdez floored the vehicle, causing it to almost strike Mr. Saunders. It then jumped the curb, crossed two lanes of traffic and sped away from the Kentucky Fried Chicken. RP 400 - 02.

Unsuccessful in that attempt, Saunders and Davis decided that they would try to repossess the second vehicle. RP 404. Mr. Rios, still monitoring the GPS devices, advised Saunders that the second vehicle was positioned in North Marysville. Robin Davis got onto Interstate 5 driving south, headed for Marysville. While en route, he observed the Valdez Explorer ahead of him also traveling southbound. RP 405. He

followed the Explorer exiting I-5 at 172<sup>nd</sup> Avenue NE. He watched the Explorer turn right off of 172<sup>nd</sup> Avenue and pull into the Burger King parking lot where it parked quite far from the entrance to the restaurant. Robin Davis drove his vehicle into the parking lot and parked not far from the Explorer. RP 407 - 08. Saunders got out of the pickup with the repossession paperwork in his hand and began to approach the Explorer. RP 409. At that point the driver of the Explorer started it up and began speeding toward the exit of the parking lot. By this time Chet Davis had exited the pickup and was in the path of the Explorer. RP 409 - 10. Believing that his son was about to be struck by the Explorer, Robin Davis reached behind the driver's seat of the pickup, grabbed an unloaded rifle, pointed it at the oncoming Explorer and ordered the driver to stop. The Explorer did stop. RP 547-49. Jeff Saunders approached the Explorer and ordered the occupants out of the Explorer. J. V., Salvador's 15 year old son, got out of the passenger side of the SUV

followed by his father. Apparently the driver's side door was inoperable. RP 550.

As soon as the occupants were out of the Explorer Robin Davis put the rifle back into his car. RP 549. Saunders advised Salvador Valdez that he was placing him under arrest for attempting to run him down at the KFC. RP 414. He also told him that they were repossessing the vehicle and that they were also going to repossess the second vehicle. He placed J.V. in the pickup with Robin and Chet Davis while he drove the Explorer, with Salvador in the passenger seat. Saunders began to lead the way to where he believed the second vehicle was located. RP 418-19.

While en route Salvador Valdez told Saunders that he was diabetic and needed sugar. Saunders stopped almost immediately at a convenience store. RP 420-21. Salvador Valdez went into the store to purchase juice while Robin Davis and Saunders conversed. As Salvador Valdez exited the convenience store the police arrived. With guns drawn they

ordered everyone out of the vehicle. RP 421. After some preliminary investigation, they arrested Robin Davis, Jeff Saunders, and Chet Davis. RP 424.

Almost seven months later the Snohomish County Prosecutor charged Robin Davis with one count of Kidnap in the First Degree, one count of Kidnap in the Second Degree, and two counts of Assault in the Second Degree. CP 1. By the time of trial the State had amended its information to add a firearm enhancement to each of the four counts. CP 40. Jeff Saunders also was charged with those four counts plus an additional count of Unlawful Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon. Chet Davis resolved his case prior to trial by entering a guilty plea to one count of Unlawful Imprisonment.

At the conclusion of the State's case the defense moved to dismiss the charge of Kidnap in the First Degree based on the failure of the State to introduce sufficient evidence to justify giving that count to the jury. The judge granted the motion to dismiss that charge, but allowed the State to amend to Kidnap

in the Second Degree. RP 374. Following a four-day trial the jury found Robin Davis guilty of two counts of Kidnap in the Second Degree and two counts of Assault in the Second Degree. The jury also returned a special verdict for each count finding that Robin Davis had been armed with a firearm. The jury found Jeffrey Saunders guilty of two counts of Kidnap in the Second Degree while armed with a firearm and acquitted him of two counts of Assault in the Second Degree and Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. CP 48 – 57.

Judge McKeeman imposed an exceptional sentence. CP 64. He did not impose any period of confinement on any of the four counts, but did impose three years for each firearm enhancement to run consecutively thereby sentencing Robin Davis to twelve (12) years in prison. CP 68. Mr. Davis filed a timely notice of appeal and the court granted him bail pending this appeal. CP 69. The Court of Appeals vacated the convictions for the two counts of Assault in the Second Degree, affirmed the convictions for two counts of Kidnap in the

Second Degree (with firearm allegations) and remanded the matter to the trial court for resentencing.<sup>1</sup>

#### E. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) (4)(the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.) The issue raised in this petition concerns the propriety of the "initial aggressor" instruction given at trial, based on the WPIC, with reference to the defense raised at trial. The rationale for the "initial aggressor" instruction was set out in State v. Riley, 137 Wash.2d 904, 911, 976 P.2d 624, 628 (1999) in which the Court wrote: "As a leading treatise explains, the reason one generally cannot claim self-defense when one is an aggressor is because "the aggressor's victim, defending himself against the aggressor, is using lawful, not unlawful, force; and the force defended against must be unlawful force, for self-defense." 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Court's instruction on the lawful use of force applied to the kidnap as well as assault allegations. See Court's Instruction 31.

Wayne R. LaFave & Austin W. Scott, Jr., Substantive Criminal Law § 5.7, at 657–58 (1986) (footnotes omitted).

When the initial aggressor instruction becomes an issue on appeal our Courts routinely remark:

Notably, Washington courts have noted few situations exist necessitating an aggressor instruction. State v. Arthur, 42 Wash.App. 120, 125 n. 1, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985). This is because "[t]he theories of the case can be sufficiently argued and understood by the jury without such instruction." Id. Moreover, "[w]hile an aggressor instruction should be given where called for by the evidence, an aggressor instruction impacts a defendant's claim of self-defense, which the State has the burden of disproving beyond a reasonable doubt." Riley, 137 Wash.2d at 910 n. 2, 976 P.2d 624.

See State v. Stark, 158 Wash.App. 952, 960, 244 P.3d 433, 437 (2010).

In the typical case the Appellate Courts then go on to examine the facts of the case to determine whether there is credible evidence that the defendant, through an intentional act independent of the actual assault, provoked a belligerent response. If the defendant did, he or she is not entitled to justify his use of force as lawful.

Mr. Davis relied on the "lawful use of force" defense and the Court properly advised the jury of that defense. See Court's Instruction 31. At the State's request the Court also read to the jury Instruction 33<sup>2</sup>, the "initial aggressor" instruction which states:

No person may, by likely to provoke a necessity for acting in self-defense or defense of another and thereupon use, offer, or attempt to use force upon or toward another person. Therefore, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was the aggressor, and that defendant's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense or defense of another is not available as a defense.

The instruction, as applied to the facts of this case prevented the defense in this case from effectively arguing its theory of the case, that the defendant's use of force was not unlawful.

In <u>State v. Brower</u>, 43 Wash.App. 893, 901, 721 P.2d 12 (1986) the Court held that the first-aggressor instruction is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This instruction is taken from WPIC 16.04

proper when the record shows that the defendant is involved in wrongful or unlawful conduct before the charged assault occurred. It is not proper simply because the defendant provoked a belligerent response from the alleged victim.<sup>3</sup> Accepting that the term "unlawful act" is void for vagueness and for that reason cannot be part of the "initial aggressor" instruction creates a conundrum for the defendant who simply is doing what the law allows, but nonetheless provokes another person. Since the rationale underlying the "initial aggressor" instruction is based upon the principle that the aggressor cannot claim self-defense because the victim of the aggressive act is entitled to respond with lawful force, State v. Riley, supra., 137

In <u>State v. Wingate</u>, 155 Wash.2d 817, 821-822, 122 P.3d 908, 910 (2005) the Supreme Court criticized Brower stating: The Court of Appeals' reliance on *Brower* and *Craig* is misplaced. *Brower* dealt with an aggressor instruction that addressed an "unlawful act" that created a necessity to respond in self-defense, rather than an intentional act that is reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, as does the present instruction. *See Brower*, 43 Wash.App. at 901, 721 P.2d 12. The "unlawful act" language appearing in the aggressor instruction in *Brower* was previously held to be unconstitutionally vague. *See id.* (referencing *State v. Arthur*, 42 Wash.App. 120, 708 P.2d 1230 (1985), which found the "unlawful act" language improper).

Wash.2d at 912, it is appropriate that the jury be so instructed. The lack of any guidance or limitation regarding the victim's actions leaves the jury in a situation in which it looks solely at whether the defendant provoked the alleged victim. The inadequacy of the instruction is significant, as the facts of this case do not present the typical scenario.

In this case Mr. Davis contended that the first contact with the Valdez family occurred in Mt. Vernon at the KFC drive through when, pursuant to the creditor's authorization, they attempted to repossess the car – a lawful act. The second contact occurred in Marysville in the Burger King parking lot when the defendant again attempted to repossess the car and to arrest the driver of the Explorer for attempting to run over Mr. Saunders as the Mr. Valdez fled from the KFC, also a lawful act. The Court instructed the jury on the lawful use of force. It found that the defense presented sufficient facts to the jury to justify the giving of these instructions. The State did not assign error to the Court's instructions.

Although repossession and/or a citizen's arrest are lawful acts, they also are intentional acts that are likely to provoke a belligerent response. Most people do not want their possessions repossessed, nor do they want to be arrested. A belligerent response by that person would come as no surprise. Yet the "initial aggressor" instruction advised the jury that if the defendant's intentional act was reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, the lawful use of force defense was not available to the defendant.

The cases relied upon by the Court of Appeals do not address the issue presented in this case. More often than not the cases concern who threw the first punch, displayed a weapon, whether the defendant's provocation was independent of the assault, or whether more than words served as the provocation. This case is different as it presents the question of the propriety of the WPIC initial aggressor instruction that does not distinguish between intentional lawful acts and unlawful acts.

The defense, in this case, could not effectively argue its theory of the case. This "initial aggressor" instruction allowed the jury to reject the defendant's lawful use of force arguments, not based on a finding that the defendant provoked a situation in which Mr. Valdez was entitled to respond belligerently, but simply by finding that the defendant's intentional actions provoked a belligerent response. Making such a finding would render the "use of force" instruction inapplicable. However, the "initial aggressor" instruction should not preclude the defendant's use of force if the provoking action was not unlawful. In other words, assuming a proper repossession or citizen's arrest, Mr. Valdez was not entitled to use force to resist; his belligerent response was not justified. If Mr. Valdez belligerent response was not justified, Davis was not the "initial aggressor."

This contention is supported by State v. Stark, 158 Wash.App. 952, 244 P.3d 433 (2010). In Stark the defendant shot her husband who had come to her home after learning that

she had obtained a restraining order against him. The Court gave an initial aggressor instruction, which the State, on appeal, sought to justify on the basis that the restraining order provoked Mr. Stark. The Court disagreed. It held that Ms. Stark was justified in obtaining the restraining order and that "(B)ecause Ms. Stark did not provoke the fight (she was hiding in the kitchen), because no conflicting evidence is presented regarding Ms. Stark's conduct, and because the evidence does not show Ms. Stark made the first move (Mr. Stark charged, threatened to kill Ms. Stark, and reached for a knife), sufficient evidence does not exist to justify an aggressor instruction. " Id at 960. Since the initial aggressor instructor prevented Ms. Stark from arguing her theory of the case (lawful use of force), the Court vacated her conviction.

In the case at bar the Court found that there was sufficient evidence to instruct the jury that the lawful use of force also included force used in making a citizen's arrest. See Instruction 31. The State did not assign error to that instruction.

Based on the testimony offered by the defense, Davis and Saunders had probable cause to believe the driver of the Explorer committed a felony, either assault in the second degree or attempted vehicular assault. See instruction 35. Similar to that of a police officer, they were entitled to use force to make the arrest. No one would dispute that ordering someone out of a car is an intention and provocative act. However, if the Davis party had probable cause on which to make a citizen's arrest, they were justified to use force to effectuate it. Their actions were lawful.

A citizen who uses force while attempting to make a citizen's arrest stands in the shoes of a police officer. See State v. Clarke, 61 Wash.2d 138, 144, 377 P.2d 449, 453 (1962)(We conclude, after careful consideration of the conflicting arguments, that the best rule, and the rule which we adopt in this case, is that it is lawful for a private citizen to use deadly force in attempting to apprehend a fleeing felon in any situation where it would be lawful for a peace officer to do so.). The act

of using reasonable force to make a valid citizen's arrest should never justify the giving of an initial aggressor instruction.

The defense contends that there was not sufficient evidence to justify the "initial aggressor" instruction. However, even if there was a basis for giving an "initial aggressor" instruction, the WPIC version given by the Court misstated the law. It allowed the jury to reject the defendant's defense based on intentional, but lawful acts by the defendant. The failure to require the jury to first determine whether Mr. Valdez's belligerent response was justified so that Mr. Davis would be considered the initial aggressor was error.

The trial courts rely upon the WPIC in determining what instructions to read to the jury. This Court has supervisory powers over the State's courts. State v. Fields, 85 Wash.2d 126, 129, 530 P.2d 284 (1975) (citing State ex rel. Foster-Wyman Lumber Co. v. Superior Court, 148 Wash. 1, 267 P. 770 (1928)). State v. Bennett, 161 Wash.2d 303, 317, 165 P.3d 1241, 1249 (2007). It is this Court, which should correct the

WPIC so that defendants in a situation similar to Mr. Davis, who assert that their actions were lawful, albeit provocative, can adequately argue their theory of the case and have the jury properly decide whether their use of force was lawful.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Determining the propriety of jury instructions is the function of the Supreme Court. It is important that the jury instructions be consistent from trial court to trial court. While there may be circumstances that justify the giving of the "initial aggressor" instruction, Mr. Davis contends that this was not such a case. Even if there was credible evidence that Mr. Davis provoked a belligerent response, the jury should have been instructed that before rejecting his claim of lawful use of force, it had to find that his intentional act created a situation that justified the "victim" to respond with the lawful use of force.

The failure to properly advise the jury deprived Mr.

Davis of his right to adequately present his defense. This Court

should accept review, vacate the remaining convictions, and remand to the trial court for a new trial.