RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 09, 2014, 11:57 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E

NO. 89644-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

۷.

#### ROBIN LEE DAVIS,

Appellant

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333



#

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that the Court deny review.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts of this case have been adequately outlined in the Brief of Respondent filed in the Court of Appeals, and in the Court of Appeals decision. The State relies on those two sources for the statement of the case.

## III. ARGUMENT

## A. THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE HE RAISES FOR THE FIRST TIME IN HIS PETITION FOR REVIEW.

The defendant defended his actions on the basis of selfdefense or defense of others. Accordingly the court gave a lawful use of force instruction. 1 CP 82. The court also gave a first aggressor instruction. 1 CP 84. The defendant objected to that instruction on the basis that there was no evidence to support it. 3 RP 646-47.

On appeal the defendant renewed his argument that there was insufficient evidence to support the initial aggressor instruction. Opening Brief of Appellant at 9-12. The Court of Appeals rejected that argument in the unpublished portion of the opinion. Slip Op. at 12-14.

The defendant seeks review of the trial court's decision to give the initial aggressor instruction. The defendant argues that the standard WPIC instruction given by the trial court was a misstatement of the law because it allowed the jury to reject his self- defense or defense of others claim based on intentional and lawful acts by the defendant. He argues that the instruction should not preclude the defendant's use of force if the provoking action was not unlawful. Petition at 14, 17. The defendant did not raise the argument in the trial court. Nor did he assign error to the initial aggressor instruction on this basis or brief this issue in the Court of Appeals.

Whether the instruction was a correct statement of the law and whether there was sufficient evidence presented to support giving the instruction are two different issues. This Court has refused to consider issues not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. <u>State v. Halstien</u>, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993), <u>In re Lord</u>, 152 Wn.2d 182, 188 n. 5, 94 P.3d 952 (2004). The Court of Appeals did not have the opportunity to consider whether the first aggressor instruction was a correct statement of the law because the defendant did not raise that issue or brief it there. As this Court has done in the past, it should refuse to review

whether the instruction was a correct statement of the law because

it is raised for the first time in the defendant's petition for review.

# B. WHETHER THE INSTRUCTION WAS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW DOES NOT INVOLVE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST THAT SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THIS COURT.

The defendant argues that review is appropriate pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4); that his petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. If this Court decides that review is not precluded because the defendant did not raise or brief the issue in the Court of Appeals that he now raises in his petition for review, review should nonetheless be denied because this standard is not met.

The crux of the defendant's argument is that the instruction did not limit the "intentional act" which is reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response to acts which are illegal. His position is that a correct initial aggressor instruction should not preclude the use of force if the provoking action was not unlawful. Petition at 14. He argues that under the specific facts of this case the defense was precluded from "effectively arguing its theory of the case, that the defendant's use of force was not unlawful." Petition at 10.

Jury instructions are proper when they do not mislead the jury, correctly inform the jury of the applicable law, and allow the parties to argue their theories of the case. <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 153 Wn.2d 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). The defendant cites no authority for the proposition that an initial aggressor instruction is appropriate only if the provoking act is illegal. This Court has stated that an initial aggressor instruction is appropriate if the defendant first satisfies his burden to produce some evidence that his actions occurred in the circumstances amounting to self-defense, and if there is credible evidence from which a jury can reasonably determine that the defendant provoked the need to act in self-defense. <u>State v. Riley</u>, 137 Wn.2d 904, 909-10, 976 P.2d 624 (1999). The instruction is appropriate even if the evidence conflicts as to whether the defendant's conduct precipitated the fight. <u>Id</u>.

The court has upheld giving a first aggressor instruction under circumstances where the defendant's intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response was also unlawful. See <u>Riley</u> (the defendant pointed a gun at the victim), However, no case has held that the provocative act must be an unlawful act.

In one case the court found the instruction was appropriate even though the provocative act was not itself unlawful. <u>State v.</u> <u>Anderson</u>, 144 Wn. App. 85, 180 P.3d 885 (2008). In <u>Anderson</u> an assault victim saw the defendant yelling at her mother as he leaned over her while the mother sat in a chair. That victim confronted the defendant with an iron bar, which led to physical fight between the defendant and the victim, her mother and her boyfriend. The defendant was charged with two counts of second degree assault. In addition to a self-defense instruction the trial court gave the first aggressor instruction. The Court of Appeals held that instruction was properly given because the act of leaning over the victim's mother with his hands on the arms of the chair she was seated in while yelling at the victim's mother was an act that consisted of more than words. <u>Id</u>. at 89-90.

The defendant argues that the instruction should not have been given because he was acting lawfully performing a vehicle repossession and then conducting a citizen's arrest. He argues that anyone would naturally respond belligerently to these acts because people do not want their cars repossessed and do not want to be arrested. However conduct that is not punishable as a

crime may nonetheless provoke a belligerent response, as demonstrated in <u>Anderson</u>.

Evidence produced in this case also demonstrates that one may intentionally act in such a way to provoke a belligerent response, even though the act itself is not punishable as a crime. The defendant and accomplices first encountered Mr. Valdez, his son, his sister, and his niece, as the Valdez family was driving through a Kentucky Fried Chicken restaurant drive through. Mr. Valdez testified that one of the men approached his car velling at him and directing him forward. Mr. Valdez did pull around the corner and encountered two more men in addition to the first man velling at him incomprehensibly. The men had parked their truck so that it blocked the drive-through exit. The truck's lights were shining at Mr. Valdez's car. One of the men approached Mr. Valdez's car and demanding that they get out. None of the men informed Mr. Valdez that their intent was to repossess the car. Nor did they show him any paperwork indicating that they were lawfully repossessing the car, rather than attempting a car-jacking. 1 RP 110-11, 114-20, 228-31. Attempting to repossess an occupied car or to continue a repossession effort if someone resists an attempt to repossess a vehicle is not a standard practice in the vehicle

repossession industry. 3 RP 621. Under those circumstances the jury could reasonably conclude that the manner in which the defendant and Mr. Saunders chose to perform a vehicle recovery was reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response; i.e. Mr. Valdez escaping by jumping the drive through lane curb.

Although the instruction did not limit the intentional act to unlawful acts, it did not preclude the defendant from arguing his theory of the case. The defendant's recitation of facts is based on his testimony and testimony from his co-defendant, Jeffrey Saunders. The State produced conflicting evidence regarding how Mr. Saunders approached Mr. Valdez and whether Mr. Valdez nearly hit Mr. Saunders as he escaped the drive through 1 RP 119, 227-31: 2 RP 400-01. There was also conflicting evidence regarding what happened in the Burger King parking lot in Smoky Point. Defense witnesses claimed Mr. Valdez nearly hit the defendant's son Chet as he tried to speed away. Independent witnesses testified Mr. Valdez's car did not do that, and was completely stopped when the defendant and Saunders jumped out of their truck brandishing a firearm at Mr. Valdez's car. Slip Op. at 13, n. 13; 1 RP 65-68, 194-95; 2 RP 407-10.

Pursuant to this conflicting testimony the defendant was still able to argue that the credible evidence showed that he and Mr. Saunders did nothing to provoke Mr. Valdez's actions for which they justifiably could defend themselves and the defendant's son.

### IV. CONCLUSION

Because prior case authority that considered the initial aggressor instruction does not limit the intentional act justifying the instruction to only unlawful acts, and the defendant was not precluded from arguing his theory of the case he has failed to show how an initial aggressor instruction that is not limited in that manner presents an issue substantial public interest that this Court should review. For that reason the State asks the court to deny review.